INDIVIDUAL, OCCUPATIONAL, AND HEALTH FACTORS THAT

CONTRIBUTE TO ABSENTEEISM OF TEACHERS IN

TEXAS PUBLIC SCHOOLS

by

Miguel Angel Capote Fermin, B.S.

A thesis submitted to the Graduate Council of Texas State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts with a Major in Psychological Research May 2018

Committee Members

Krista Howard, Chair

Rebecca Deason

Maria Czyzewska

COPYRIGHT

by

Miguel Angel Capote Fermin

2018

FAIR USE AND AUTHOR'S PERMISSION STATEMENT

Fair Use

This work is protected by the Copyright Laws of the United States (Public Law 94-553, section 107). Consistent with fair use as defined in the Copyright Laws, brief quotations from this material are allowed with proper acknowledgment. Use of this material for financial gain without the author's express written permission is not allowed.

Duplication Permission

As the copyright holder of this work I, Miguel Angel Capote Fermin, authorize duplication of this work, in whole or in part, for educational or scholarly purposes only.

DEDICATION

I want to dedicate this thesis to, first, my mother. This is for all the times you carried me on your back through the worst of times. For all the headaches that, as a child and adult, I have given you. For all the times I did not make sense. And for all the meals that made this journey easier to bear.

To my father, for all of the compassion and encouragement that I have received as well as all the times you made sure I was going to make it to class safe. For all the mental and financial support. To both of you, thank you a billion times.

To those that love me and were there since the start of my academic journey. To that one person who has had the patience to believe in me, even when the future seemed far and uncertain.

To all of the family that has been there to support me. Especially to those that help me and encourage me to continue and improve myself every day. For those that help me without any hesitation, thank you.

Finally, I want to dedicate this thesis to all those individuals that will never have a chance to obtain this privilege. Specifically, to those still in Venezuela who, because of life events, have been deprived of this amazing opportunity. I wish them to stay strong and know that better times are sure to come.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to take a moment to express my gratitude for the individuals who have helped me on my path here today. To Dr. Howard, thank you for the guidance you have given that resulted in the completion of this thesis. To Dr. Deason, thank you for providing the patience that it took to be a part of my educational and professional career from the very beginning. To Dr. Czyzewska, thank you for believing in me and in my capacity to achieve what I have today.

I want to acknowledge and thank all my professors who have been in my life during my journey within this master's program. I sincerely believe the reason I can be the person I am today is due to the quality of the teachers, instructors and professors that I have had the pleasure of learning from.

Again, thank you very much.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ACKNOWL	EDGEMENTSv
LIST OF TA	BLESviii
ABSTRACT	`x
CHAPTER	
I.	INTRODUCTION1
II.	LITERATURE REVIEW
	Absenteeism in the Workplace2
	Occupational Factors in Absenteeism
	Health Factors in Absenteeism6
III.	ABSENTEEISM IN TEACHERS
	Teacher Demographics in Absenteeism9
	Teacher Occupational Absenteeism11
	Teacher Health Factors in Absenteeism12
IV.	PURPOSE OF THESIS15
	Hypotheses15
V.	RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHOD17
	Design17
	Participants17
	Measurements
	Demographic Factors18
	Occupational Factors18
	Organizational Commitment and Job Involvement19

		Job Satisfaction	20
		Job Control, School Climate, and School Probler	ms20
		Health Factors	21
		Mental and Physical Quality of Life	21
		Psychopathology and Physical Health	22
		Statistical Analysis	22
VI.	RESULTS		24
VII.	DISCUSSION		40
APPENDIX	SECTION		59
REFERENC	ES		81

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1.	Evaluating Demographic Indicators Most Associated with Absenteeism in the
	Teaching Profession for Personal Illness
2.	Evaluating Teacher Indicators Most Associated with Absenteeism in the Teaching
	Profession for Personal Illness46
3.	Univariate Analysis Evaluating Occupational Indicators Most Associated with
	Absenteeism in the Teaching Profession for Personal Illness47
4.	Univariate Analysis Evaluating Health Indicators Most Associated with
	Absenteeism in the Teaching Profession for Personal Illness Absenteeism48
5.	Univariate Analysis Evaluating Demographic Indicators Most Associated with
	Teaching Profession for Non-Illness Absenteeism
6.	Univariate Analysis Evaluating Teacher Indicators Most Associated with the
	Teaching Profession for Non-Illness Absenteeism
7.	Univariate Analysis Evaluating Occupational Indicators Most Associated with
	Teaching Profession for Non-Illness Absenteeism
8.	Univariate Analysis Evaluating Health Indicators Most Associated with Teaching
	Profession for Non-Illness Absenteeism
9.	Multivariate Analysis of Occupational, Health, and Demographic Indicators Most
	Associated with Absenteeism in Teaching Profession for Personal Illness53

10. Multivariate Analysis Evaluating Occupational, Health, and Demograph	ic
Indicators Most Associated with Absenteeism in the Teaching Professio	n for
Personal Non-Illness	55
11. Frequency Distribution of Demographics	56

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study is to carefully evaluate the demographic, occupational, and health factors most associated with teacher absenteeism within the Texas public school system. Absenteeism is costly for organizations, especially those that depend on federal and state funding such as public schools. This study included 2,588 teachers from 46 public school districts in Texas who participated in an occupational health survey. Absenteeism was assessed as the physical absence from work. Individuals who selfreported that they were not present at work due to either personal reasons or due to illness were compared to individuals that had zero absences. The variables included in this study are individual demographics, basic teacher/classroom/school specific demographics, occupational indicators (organizational commitment, job involvement, job support, job control, climate and school problems), health factors (stress, physical and mental quality of life), and Axis I Psychopathology (Depression, Anxiety, Panic, Somatization). A multivariate negative binomial regression will be used to examine which variables are key predictors of teacher absenteeism within the Texas public school system. The results of this study will identify factors that contribute to overall absences of individuals in the work place, and may allow for recommendations of workplace changes that can be used to decrease absenteeism.

I. INTRODUCTION

Employees missing days of work is costly for organizations because of the disruption to the work environment. Regardless of the reason, not being present at work can decrease morale of employees, disrupt the flow of the work place and damage the morale of those individuals covering for those absent (Hemp, 2004). While workplace absenteeism is often associated with illness, it has also been linked to occupational factors, such as job dissatisfaction and personality traits (Mount et. al., 2006). Simply put, whether an employee likes (satisfaction) or dislikes (dissatisfaction) their job could determine the likelihood that they would intentionally miss work (Fritzsche & Parrish, 2005). It is very important for organizations to understand the underlying factors that cause employees to miss days of work, and then use this information to create positive change in the workplace that promotes the satisfaction and well-being of employees. Innovative ways to decrease absenteeism is required to retain individuals of high morale and to decrease unnecessary cost to the organizations due to misuse of days off.

This thesis will provide a comprehensive overview of employee absenteeism. In addition, a discussion will demonstrate how occupational and health variables can contribute to absenteeism at work. Specifically, an examination of absenteeism within the education sector will be reviewed to provide a narrow focus on variables that are associated with teacher absenteeism. The purpose of this study is to isolate the factors that are directly and/or indirectly related to a public-school teacher's absence from work. By identifying these factors, it will give more insight on how to approach absenteeism and maximize productivity in the workplace.

1

II. LITERATURE REVIEW

Absenteeism in the Workplace

According to the withdrawal and process models of attendance behavior, people tend to not want to go to work when they do not enjoy being there, and this behavior is reversed when employees feel comfortable and happy at work (Johns, 1997; Steers & Rhodes, 1978; Youngblood, 1984). An inverse relationship has been found between job satisfaction and absenteeism (Porter & Steers, 1973). One problem that can be observed when using job satisfaction to predict absenteeism is the fact that individuals do not have to like their jobs in order to attend, making job satisfaction a flawed measure with which to predict absenteeism. Strict rules of attendance, the possibility of negative consequences, necessity and other factors could potentially make an employee attend work regardless of their job satisfaction (Diestel et al., 2014; Johns & Nicholson, 1982).

Absenteeism was defined by Goodman, Atkin, and Associates in 1984 in a twopart behavioral response that includes location and time. An employee is expected to be present at a specified time in a specific location. Therefore, when an individual is absent for any reason, the individual is not fulfilling their employment agreement (Moore. 1986). Organizations plan their budgets around the expectation that employees will be absent a certain number of workdays each year due to illness and other reasonable circumstances, but it is the excessive, repeated absences and misuse of these absences that disrupts productivity, becoming costly to an organization. About 10% of staff account for more than 50% of total absenteeism (Nader et al., 2006). It is estimated that absenteeism in America alone costs approximately 250 billion dollars every year (Losina et al., 2017). Because of the cost to the market economy, organizations look to understand the factors that contribute to this economic loss. While it is normal to miss days at work for justifiable reasons, such as unforeseen life events, an illness, or to resolve a personal matter, the problem with absenteeism is that it becomes habitual for some employees, and once an employee has intentionally missed days of work it is likely that this behavior will be repeated (Arnold & Feldman, 1982; Mobley, 1977; Mobley et al., 1979; Mobley, 1982; Porter & Steers, 1973; Shore & Martin, 1989; Steel & Ovalle, 1984).

Absenteeism has been positively correlated with attrition and turnover (Cotton & Tulle 1986; Mobley et al., 1979; Shore & Martin 1989). Therefore, some of the factors that affect turnover and attrition also have been shown to affect the rates of absenteeism. Intent to quit (attrition) accounts for the most variance in turnover and is positively correlated with absenteeism; a combination of other factors, including demographic, occupational, and health variables contributes to the rest of the variance in turnover (Cotton &Tulle 1986; Mobley et al., 1979). Finding a way to decrease the probability an employee would miss days at work can lower the rate of absenteeism.

Occupational Factors related to Absenteeism

There are many factors in the occupational setting that are known to contribute to absenteeism. Negative employee attitudes toward in the workplace have been shown to significantly impact absenteeism along with other key factors such as organizational commitment, job satisfaction, and workplace climate (Cotton & Tulle, 1986; Mobley et al., 1979; Porter & Steers, 1973). Commitment in the workplace is the interaction of the emotional and psychological connections that an employee has formed during their employment; these are displayed as the acceptance of the organization's goals and the desire to be part of the company's overall mission statement (Blau & Boal, 1987). Level of commitment is measured by how well an employee identifies with his/her job or organization and how he/she participates in the operations of the organization. Characteristics of individuals who identify with or are highly involved in their job include: engaging in positive attitudes at work, going beyond the required task, and taking pride in the work performed (Landy & Conte, 2013; Lawler & Hall, 1970; Price 2000). People with stronger identification and involvement tend to want to stay within an organization and are less likely to miss work, indicating a negative relationship between occupational commitment and absenteeism (Cotton & Tulle, 1986; Mobley et al., 1979; Porter & Steers, 1973). Organizational commitment, when compared to the other occupational factors, is the best predictor of absenteeism within the general occupational setting (Losina, et.al., 2017, Mobley et al., 1979; Shore & Martin, 1989). For employees with a high level of organizational commitment, their job becomes a reflection of one's image. These highly committed employees identify with and care about their jobs and feel positively about the organizations they work for because it is part of their individual identity (Kanungo, 1982).

Employee job satisfaction in addition to commitment becomes another principal factor when studying and discussing absenteeism. Employees are more likely to miss days from work if they do not like their job, and absenteeism tends to be low if their job satisfaction is high (Porter & Steers, 1973). Satisfaction is the positive appraisal of his/her job experiences, while a negative appraisal at the workplace results in low job satisfaction and dissatisfaction (Landy & Conte, 2013).

Research has shown that the level of job satisfaction seems to correlate with the amount of control and support an employee is given in the workplace (Mondal et.al,

2011). It is vital that employees feel in control at their place of work in order to keep job satisfaction high. Control has a negative relationship with intention to quit, implying that the more control one perceives, the lower the likelihood one will quit (Barling & Kelloway, 1996; Porter & Steers, 1973). Feeling supported in the work community promotes satisfaction, such that a workplace with supportive coworkers has a higher retention rate and lower rates of absenteeism (Billingsley, 2004; Elshout, et. al, 2013; Price, 2000; Porter & Steers, 1973). A lack of support from coworkers can make one feel alienated or disconnected in the workplace and can lead to dissatisfaction towards the job.

Both satisfaction and control are related to absenteeism.

Each workplace forms a unique climate and environment. Occupational climate is the culture, the ethics, and the interactions between people in the workplace as perceived by the employees (Aarons & Sawitxky, 2006; Billingsley, 2004; Landy & Conte, 2013). Culture in the workplace includes the meanings, expectations, norms, and behaviors of all employees within the organization (Landy & Conte, 2013). The climate of an organization is sensitive to inequality between employees, as well as to abusive and untrusting behaviors (Aarons & Sawitxky, 2006; Billingsley, 2004; Porter & Steers, 1973). However, supportive interactions between individuals improve perceptions of the climate in a work environment (Porter & Steer, 1973). The health of the work environment has an impact on absenteeism and job satisfaction. Individuals who perceive the workplace climate as being positive will have lower absenteeism, while a negative perception can lead to a higher likelihood of intentionally missing work (Aarons & Sawitxky, 2006; Porter & Steer, 1973).

5

Health Factors in Absenteeism

Physical illness is one the top reasons employees report missing work. In addition to general illnesses, absenteeism can be the result of stress, a typical experience in most workplace settings. Stress is a phenomenon in which one does not have access to the resources necessary to handle the appraised threat (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). When the demands experienced by an individual surpass their capacity, stress is created (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Price, 2000). While most stress is deemed negative, stress can be a positive factor. There are two types of stress, eustress and distress. Eustress is considered a positive stress that can be used to motivate employees to meet the demands of the workplace. Distress is considered the negative stress that can hinder an employee's performance (Landy & Conte, 2013). The relationship between stress and employee performance follows an inverted parabolic, or U-shaped distribution. Low to moderate stress (eustress) encourages employees, resulting in positive outcomes for the organization, while chronic long-term exposure to negative stress (distress) can be damaging to the individual and his/her performance (Landy & Conte, 2013). Stressors are the factors that are directly related to the onset of stress. For example, overwhelming workload and limited time are the most commonly observed stressors in the workplace (Landy & Conte, 2013). Job stress can reduce satisfaction and commitment, indirectly leading to absenteeism (Landy & Conte, 2013; Mobley et al., 1979; Porter & Steers, 1973; Shore & Martin 1989; Wunder et al., 1982).

Workplace stressors affect more than just attendance in the workplace. For example, quality of life is of value both inside and outside the place of work. Quality of life refers to the mental and physical well-being of an individual, which is attributed to the absence of a mental disorder or ill health (Danna & Griffen, 1999; Landy & Conte,

6

2013; Van Dierendonck, Haynes, Borrill & Stride, 2004). Poor well-being in individuals can be related to higher absenteeism (Danna & Griffen, 1999; Van Dierendonck et al., 2004). Additionally, the presence of Axis I psychological disorders, including anxiety, depression, somatization, and panic is often used to determine the overall mental health of individuals, and has been related to workplace absenteeism (Baba et al., 1998; Porter & Steers, 1973). These conditions are described by the DSM-V as follows: anxiety disorder is described by persisting excessive worrying and tension created by the possibility of perceived danger. Depression is a temporary state often experienced with negative thoughts and feelings of sadness that can possibly lead to self-destructive behaviors which can hinder a person's problem-solving ability as well as their ability to overcome challenges. Somatization disorder is the manifestation of physical symptoms with no underlying medical cause observed (Comer, 2010). Panic disorder involves reoccurring uncontrollable presence of concern and worrying that leads to panic attacks which are intense and can affect and change behavior (Comer, 2010). Axis I psychological disorders have been found to be one of the leading reasons for absenteeism (Baba., et al 1998; Comer, 2010; Porter & Steers, 1973).

III. ABSENTEEISM IN TEACHERS

Teachers missing school is a problem in the educational system, and it is estimated that 1 in 3 teachers will miss 10 days or more during the course of a school year (Toppo, 2013). The economic climate and decrease in funding can create a stressful workplace environment for teachers due to having to handle work overloads, long hours, and yielding limited reward (Van Dick & Wagner, 2001). It is estimated that the use of substitute teachers in grades K through 12 costs the educational system around four billion dollars annually (Miller, 2008). It was estimated that on each day in 2001, 274,000 classrooms had a substitute teacher in the United States of America (Trull, 2001) This number was double by 2009 and expected to be increasing (Charles, 2009). By the time students graduate from high school, they will spend at least one full year being educated by a substitute and this estimation is expected to be higher in areas with a low socioeconomic status (Haynes, 2014). High absenteeism may also lead to high turnover in the educational system. It is estimated that approximately 230,000 teachers transfer schools/districts or leave the profession every year (Haynes, 2014; Shen, 1997).

Teachers' absences can disrupt the school environment. Student achievement is negatively affected by the absence of regular instructors, and teacher absence has been found to affect low income students the most (Miller, 2008). Although absenteeism is the focus of organizations and companies for the monetary loss, it can be inferred that in the education system the biggest losses are reflected in the diminishing success of students (Keller, 2008). A review of the literature indicates that resources influence teacher absenteeism. In developing countries, such as Zambia and India, absenteeism is estimated to be much higher than in the United States; however, studying the effects of this is nearly impossible because impoverished school systems usually do not keep records of teacher's absences (Das, Dercon, Habyarimana, & Krishnan, 2007; Duflo & Hanna, 2005). Even in the United States, teacher absenteeism data is not always available; however, when data from a sample of over 700 school districts in the New York State were collected, it revealed that teachers were absent 5% of the time during a period of one school year (Ehrenberg et al., 1991). Ten years later, in the year 2000, the U.S. Department of Education's survey revealed that the rate of absenteeism was 5.2% on any given day, which is 9.4 days out of a 180-day school year (Podgursky, 2003). The rate of absenteeism is higher in the educational system for teachers than the private sector employees according to the Bureau of Labor and Statistics reports, where the rate is around 1.7% of a professional's annual hours worked (Podgursky, 2003).

Teacher Demographics in Absenteeism

The demographic factors that influence absenteeism in teachers include age, gender, ethnicity, presence/number of dependents, tenure, and education level, and these factors have been explored in great detail (Farrell & Stamm, 1988; Scott & McClellan, 1990; Shapira-Lishchinsky, 2012; Steel & Rentsch, 1995; Rosenblatt & Shirom 2005; Vistnes, 1997). Gender is a factor in absenteeism, such that male teachers have been shown to have lower rates of absenteeism than females (Farrell & Stamm 1988; Scott & McClellan 1990; Steel & Rentsch 1995). One explanation has been that women are more likely to stay at home because of cultural expectations to tend to family affairs (Ichino & Moretti 2009) or to attend to dependents (Scott & McClellan 1990). In developed countries, the role of a female caretaker is becoming less prominent, but in developing countries women may experience more absenteeism than men because of societal expectations in which the woman assumes the role of caretaker rather than provider (Rosenblatt & Shirom, 2005, Vistnes, 1997).

Generally, age and absenteeism are positively correlated. Older individuals are usually more vulnerable to health-related problems that prevent them from completing their tasks at work (McMurray et al., 2001). Individuals older than 30 years old also have shown a negative correlation with absenteeism, a higher job commitment and lower absenteeism (Rosenblatt & Shirom, 2005;), have been shown to be more receptive to a positive work environment (Chaudhury & Ng, 1992), and tend to experience fewer injuries while performing their job than their counterparts (Vistnes, 1997).

Dependents can also affect absenteeism, such that the number of dependents that rely on an individual increases family commitments by adding more responsibilities that can increase absenteeism (Judge et al., 1997; Vistnes, 1997). The relationship between absenteeism and the number of dependents have yielded different results in the literature. Some studies have found a positive correlation between female teacher's absenteeism and the number of dependents in their care (Bridges & Mumford, 2000; Vistnes, 1997). Other researchers' studies have found no correlation between absenteeism and the number of dependents (Judge et al 1997; Rosenblatt & Shirom 2005; VandenHeuvel 1993). In developed nations, care of dependents is becoming less of a gender-assigned task, and because of this we should see a positive correlation between number of dependents and absenteeism for both males and females.

Rosenblatt and Shirom (2005) described that professionalism is positively related to years of education, yielding higher commitment to work. Furthermore, elevated levels of job involvement and control have been observed in more educated teachers (Chaudhury & Ng 1992). Previous research has shown a negative relationship between the teachers' level of education and rates of absenteeism (Steel & Rentsch 1995).

Teacher Occupational Absenteeism

Research has shown that teacher absenteeism is costly for school systems both monetarily and with its impact on the overall performance of students (Clotfelter et al., 2009; Miller et al., 2008). The factors causing this are not so easily isolated in terms of absenteeism. Some researchers have suggested that job involvement, job satisfaction, gender, and transportation are key factors for absenteeism in teachers (Scott & Wimbush, 1991). Others suggest school guidelines of operations, specifically how it deals with absentees, is closely related to teacher absenteeism (Clotfelter et al., 2009; Jacob, 2010). Commitment and job satisfaction have become more common factors when approaching the problem of absenteeism. High levels of commitment have been shown to lead to a lower likelihood of a teacher missing days at work (Billingsley & Cross, 1992).

External support from others as well as control of the work environment has been used as a factor to study absenteeism and attrition. How satisfied teachers are with their job can be linked to the support one has within the job environment and how much control they feel they have over their environment (Landy & Conte, 2013; Mondal et al., 2011). The freedom to control aspects of the classroom environment has been associated with higher overall satisfaction in teachers (Pearson & Moomaw, 2005; Shen, 1997). Examples of low control include the following: not having influence over the content and the teaching style, decision making, and/or policies related to the curriculum. These factors have been shown to impact the overall level of satisfaction in teachers and result in dissatisfaction in their job (Billingsley & Cross, 1992; Mondal et al., 2011; Pearson & Moomaw, 2005; Shakrani, 2008; Shen, 1997; Yang et al., 2009). Lower satisfaction in teachers is related to higher absenteeism rates.

Principals and colleagues are seen as part of the support group that influence teachers (Dworkin et al., 1990; Mondal et al., 2011, Pearson & Moomaw, 2005; Shakrani, 2008; Shen, 1997). Support and acknowledgement from their peers leads to greater job satisfaction for teachers which results in lower absenteeism (Billingsley, 2004; Pearson & Moomaw, 2005; Shen, 1997). While research into occupations more generally indicates a negative relationship between supportive colleagues and employee's general absenteeism,

this relationship has not been substantiated within the teaching profession.

Within the limited research on absenteeism within the teaching profession, job satisfaction, or lack thereof, has been found to be the biggest contributor to absenteeism.

Teacher Health Factors in Absenteeism

Research has shown that younger aged teachers tend to report higher stress levels than older teachers (Mondal et al., 2011; Trendal, 1989). Tenure in the teaching profession may influence stress for individuals in this group more than any other groups (Haverman, 2007; Shakrani, 2008; Shen, 1997). Additionally, it has been shown that teachers in urban school areas are affected by higher levels of stress and therefore have greater amounts of absenteeism than those in rural school settings (Haverman, 2007). Furthermore, teachers in special education have shown significantly higher levels of stress than individuals teaching general education (Shakrani, 2008; Trendal, 1989).

Stress affects individuals regardless of their profession, but stress-induced illnesses are reported to be higher within the teaching profession (Dworkin et al., 1990; Yang et al. 2009). Teachers have been seen to report more physical health issues (hypertension, cardiovascular disease, and headaches) and mental health issues (anxiety, somatic disorders and depression) than other occupations (Dworkin et al., 1990; Yang et al., 2009).

Depression, in addition to stress, is a common experience for individuals stemming from their occupations. It is estimated that around 350 million people worldwide experience depression at some point in their lives (Marcus, Yasamy, van Ommeren, Chisholm, & Saxena, 2012). Depression's devastating effects can be observed by the decreased productivity in the workplace as much as 48% and the cost to the United

States of an approximated \$44 million dollars a year (Stewart, Ricci, Chee, Hahn, & Morganstein, 2003).

Employees have been found to be hesitant to talk about their symptoms even if they are believed to be experiencing depression and it may be affecting their performance (Steffick, Fortney, Smith, & Pyne, 2006). In 2005, Charbonneau et al. found that although 90% of individuals could positively identify the symptoms of depression only a fraction of them, 29%, will seek help or even discuss their problems with their current employer.

Adler et al. (2006) found experiencing depression in the workplace makes individuals more vulnerable to developing problems affecting psychological and

13

interpersonal tasks, time management, and output activities. Depression can disturb the working environment, but factors in the work environment can also influence depression (Besse, et. al. 2015).

Somatization, a disorder that can be defined as the reported presence of one or more symptoms that mimics medical conditions without explanation (Harvey & Wessely, 2013), has been found to play an important role in absenteeism in teachers. These pseudosymptoms can mimic conditions including but not limited to; chronic fatigue syndrome, fibromyalgia, irritable bowel syndrome and more common conditions such as headaches (Nater, Fischer, & Ehlert, 2011). The developing of somatization disorder has been found to be different by gender, with younger-middle age women found more vulnerable to the development of the illness (White, 2013).

In general, teachers have been found to report lower quality of life when taking into consideration physical and mental health, and have been observed to have a shorter life expectancy in comparison to other professions (Shakrani, 2008; Yang et al., 2009). Thus, rates of absenteeism are not impacted by a single factor but rather by a spectrum of psychological and physical components.

IV. PURPOSE OF THESIS

Utilizing data from an online comprehensive occupational health survey, this study aims to systematically evaluate the factors most strongly associated with absenteeism for teachers in the Texas public school sectors. The following factors will be considered for association with being absent at work in the teaching profession: basic demographics, teacher-demographics, occupational factors, and health variables.

Hypotheses

Demographic indicators hypothesized to be associated with absenteeism include the following:

1-Female Gender
2-Ethnicity
3-Fewer Years Teaching
4-Core Courses Taught
5-Rural Area Location
6-School Level
7-Lower School Rating

Occupational indicators hypothesized to be associated with absenteeism include the following:

8-High School Problems9-Low Job Involvement10-Low Organizational Commitment11-Low Job Support

12-Low Job Control

Health indicators hypothesized to be associated with absenteeism include the following:

13-Presence of Axis I Psychopathology (Depression, Anxiety, Panic,

Somatization)

14-High Perceived Stress

15-Poor Physical Quality of Life

16-Poor Mental Quality of Life

V. RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHOD

Design

This study will use previously collected data from a comprehensive occupational health study on public school teachers from 46 randomly chosen districts in Texas. All email addresses for current K-12 public school teachers were obtained through the Public Information Act and through the various school districts' administrative offices and public websites. A one-time email was sent asking for voluntary participation and contained a hyperlink; 3,361 teachers agreed to participate in the survey. The Texas State University Institutional Review Board previously approved this study.

Participants

The present study used a subset of the data collected from the comprehensive occupational health teacher study. Only teachers who responded to the questions regarding absenteeism in the past month were included in this current study (n = 2588). The "Absenteeism" variable distribution asked respondents to indicate the number of days they have been absent from work in the past 4 weeks, broken down by "personal illness" and "personal non-illness." Those who reported 0 absences were placed in the "No Absenteeism" group. The participants with absences were grouped into "1 Absence" group those with 2 or more absences were included in the "2 or more Absence" group.

Measurements

Demographic Factors

The basic demographic factors of the teachers were examined as well as his/her classroom experience and the basic demographics of the school in which the teacher worked within the Texas' public school system. Gender, years of teaching, and age of the teacher were included in the teacher demographics that were examined. How individuals became teachers was also examined by "the method of certification" (traditional or alternative). The variable Classroom Experience was composed of the type of classes taught (core or elective) and the number of students with an individual education plan (IEP). The schedule of each teacher was examined by combining the number of hours in the following questions; "beyond school each day, how many hours are required to be at school each day?" and, "how many hours are spent at home grading papers or planning curriculum?" The type of school, the location of the school, and basic information of the school's accountability ratings were used for assessing the school's basic demographic variables. The school's type and location was analyzed by assessing the "area of school" (rural, urban, sub-urban) and the "type of school" (elementary, middle, and high). Texas schools' accountability ratings were based on the students' test scores on state-mandated testing. The accountability ratings in Texas schools are classified as: Exemplary, Recognized, Acceptable, and Unacceptable.

Occupational Factors

Occupational variables were examined to see how well they predicted absenteeism in the teaching profession. Several scales used in this current study were extracted from the 2007-2008 Schools and Staffing Survey (SASS) conducted by the U.S.

Department of National Center for Education Statistics (2010). This established survey covers an array of topics: characteristics of the teacher, students and administrations, the conditions and context within the school and any problems within the school (student, administration, or school related).

Organizational Commitment and Job Involvement

The commitment an individual has towards his/her school and job was assessed. The organizational commitment survey consists of seven questions that address overall commitment to the school, refer to Appendix A (U.S. Department of National Center for Education Statistics, 2010). Examples of questions include "I think about staying home from school because I'm just too tired to go" and, "the teachers at this school like being here; I would describe us as a satisfied group."

Lodahl and Kejnar (1965) designed a 20-item Job Involvement scale, which measures how a person connects to the job and the relationship the job has with an individual's total self-image (see Appendix C). The questions on the scale ask how strongly one agrees with certain statements. For example, "I would probably keep working even if I didn't need the money," and "I'll stay overtime to finish a job." The internal reliability of the scale is .79 (Ramsey, Laask & Marshall, 1995).

19

Job Satisfaction

The job satisfaction variable was comprised of ten items which asked teachers to rate satisfaction using a scale from 0 to10 regarding their perceived support from a variety of sources (parents, grade-level teachers, community, district administration, etc.) within the teaching environment (See Appendix D).

Job Control, School Climate, and School Problems

The scales for control, climate, and school problems were all extracted from the 2007-2008 Schools and Staffing Survey (SASS) (U.S. Department of National Center for Education Statistics, 2010). The variable of control was assessed by six questions asking teachers to rate from 0 to 10 how much control they have over certain aspects within the classroom. "Selecting textbooks and other instructional material," "Selecting content, topics, and skills to be taught" and "Selecting teaching techniques" are some of the questions asked for this variable (refer to Appendix E). The composite scores for support and control were used to determine the variable job satisfaction, and to predict absenteeism rates.

Climate is another factor that was assessed for this study. Examples of statements included: "the school administration's behavior toward the staff is supportive and encouraging," "I am satisfied with my teaching salary," and "the level of student misbehavior in this school (such as noise, horseplay or fighting in the halls, cafeteria, or student lounge) interferes with my teaching." There were seventeen questions that comprised the scale for climate (see Appendix F). Problems teachers perceived to be in the workplace were also assessed. Ten questions were used to create a composite score

that asked teachers to rate the strength of problems within the school, such as student absenteeism, students dropping rates and lack of parent support or involvement (See Appendix G). Perception of the environment and perceived problems with the school were constituted to be part of the overall character of the climate.

Health Factors

The health factors that were collected for this study included self-reported perceived stress, quality of life, psychological, and physical health factors. Stress was assessed using the Perceived Stress Scale (PSS), a well-established measure in the literature that addresses which life situations are appraised as stressful (Cohen & Williamson, 1988). The PSS-10 is comprised of 10 questions that require individuals to report how often one has felt stressed in the last month. Examples of these questions are "Felt confident about your ability to handle your personal problems," "Felt that things were going your way", "Found that you could not cope with all the things that you had to do." (see Appendix H). Cronbach's alpha for reliability of this established scale is between .84 and .86 (Cohen, Kamarck, & Mermelstein, 1983).

Mental and Physical Quality of Life

The wellbeing of the individual was assessed by using health-related quality of life, both physical and mental, as measured by the Short-Form 36 Health Inventory (SF-36) (refer to Appendix J). Individuals were asked to "indicate if your current health limits you in the following activities that might occur during a typical day." "Lifting or carrying groceries," "Climbing several flights of stairs," and "Climbing one flight of stairs" are examples of activities in question that depict the physical quality of life of an individual. The mental quality of life examples are "Did you feel full of pep?" "Have you been a very nervous person?" "Have you felt so down in the dumps that nothing could cheer you up?" Composite scores were produced for mental and physical scales of quality of life; the reliability ranges between .77 and .94 (Ware, Gandek & the IQOLA Group; 1994).

Psychopathology and Physical Health

The Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ) is a well-established and validated instrument used to measurement the physical health and psychological health of an individual when under primary care settings. The PHQ addresses Axis I psychopathology by determining if an individual meets the minimum criteria for mental disorders according the DSM-IV, specifically anxiety, depression, panic disorders, somatization (See Appendixes K, L, M, & N). The internal consistency of these scales is between .86 and .89 (Spitzer, Kroenke, Williams & the Patient Health Questionnaire Primary Care Study Group, 1999). The current self-reported physical health of the teacher was assessed by The General Health History questionnaire (refer to Appendix P). This checklist consists of 60 items containing current health conditions created and used by hospitals (Spitzer et al.,1999).

Statistical Analysis

Two sets of univariate statistics were conducted comparing those with no absenteeism to those had absenteeism (either 1 absence or 2 or more days absent), based

on personal illness and personal non-illness only. One -Way ANOVAs were used for comparisons of variables measured on a continuous scale and chi-square tests of independence were used to assess categorical variables. The appropriate post hoc tests were conducted. Because the dependent variable is a count, rather than a score, two multivariate negative binomial regression models were then used to identify the key variables most associated with absenteeism for personal illness and absenteeism for personal non-illness in the Texas public school system. Variables significant at the univariate level were included in the final regression models. The alpha level was set at p= .05. All analyses were conducted using SPSS v. 24.

VI. RESULTS

Univariate Analysis

All data were prescreened for outliers and missing data prior to analysis. For the absenteeism variables, responses were coded and grouped into the following three categories: no absenteeism, one absence, and two or more absences, for both personal illness; for example, missing days at work due to not feeling well physically (flu, headaches, etc.) and for personal non-illness; for example, to attend an non-urgent occasion, (birthdays, events, other personal activities). The univariate analyses were conducted to determine if there were differences between individuals with no absences, only one absence, or two or more absences in the past four weeks.

Demographic Factors for Absenteeism: Personal-Illness

The univariate analyses results for the demographic factors are displayed in Table 1. A Chi-Square test of Independence compared the effect of gender on personal illness absenteeism. The percentage of participants that reported no absenteeism, one absence, or two or more absences did not differ by gender, χ^2 (2, N = 2306) = .2.312, p = .315.

A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of age on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, or two or more absences conditions. There was a significant effect of age on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 2288) = 4.778, p = .009]. Older teachers reported more absenteeism for two more absences compared to the one absence condition and the no absenteeism condition.

A Chi-square test of Independence was conducted to compare the effect of ethnicity for hypothesis 2 on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. The percentage of participants that reported no absenteeism, one absence, or two or more absences differed significantly by ethnicity, λ^2 (4, N = 2305) = 18.28, p < .001. Whites/Caucasians were more likely to have 0 or 1 absence, African Americans were more likely to have two or more absences, and Hispanics were more likely to 1 or 2 or more absences.

A Chi-square test of Independence was conducted to compare the effect of marital status on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence, or two or more absences conditions. The percentage of participants that reported no absenteeism, one absence, or two or more absences differed significantly by marital status, χ^2 (8, N = 2270) = 34.51, p < .001. Those reporting one absence or two or more absences were more likely to be single, whereas those in the no absenteeism group were more likely to be married.

Teacher Factors for Absenteeism: Personal-Illness

The univariate results for the teacher factors are displayed in Table 2. A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of the total years' experience in the teaching profession on personal illness absenteeism in no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was not significant effect of years teaching on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 2300) = 1.837, p = .160].

A Chi-square test of Independence was conducted to compare the effect of teacher certification route on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, or two or more absences conditions. The percentage of absences differed significantly by certification mode, X^2 (6, N = 2306) = 15.04, p = .020. Those with the Alternative Certification were significantly more likely to have two or more absences, while those with a Traditional Certification were more likely to have none or only one absence.

A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of work hours/day on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, or two or more absences conditions. There was a significant effect of the work hours in a day on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 2208) = 5.125, p = .006]. Teachers who reported two or more absences indicated a greater number of work hours per day compared to teachers in the one absence condition and the no absenteeism condition.

A Chi-square test of Independence was conducted to compare the effect of teaching core courses on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, or two or more absences conditions. The percentage of participants that reported no absenteeism, one absence, and two or more absences did not differ by core course load, χ^2 (2, N = 2305) = 1.107, p = .575.

A Chi-square test of Independence was conducted to compare the effect of location (rural, suburban, or urban) on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, or two or more absences conditions. The percentage of
teachers that reported no absenteeism, one absence, and two or more absences differed significantly by area location, $\chi^2(6, N = 2305) = 24.506$, p <.001. Teachers in urban areas were more likely to report one absence or two or more absences. Teachers in suburban areas were more likely to report no absenteeism or two or more days, while teachers in rural areas were less likely to report two or more absences.

A Chi-square test of independence was conducted to compare the effect of school level on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. The percentage of participants that reported no absenteeism, one absence, and two or more absences differed significantly by school level, λ^2 (12, N = 2306) = 27.59, p = .006. Teachers in elementary school level were more likely to report no absenteeism and less likely to report one or 2+ absences. Teachers in the middle school level were more likely to report 2+ absences, and teachers in the high school level were more likely to report only one absence.

A Chi-square was conducted to compare the effect of current school rating on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. The percentage of participants that reported no absenteeism, one absence, and two or more absences differed significantly by school rating, χ^2 (6, N = 1874) = 37.36, p < .001. Teachers in exemplary school districts were more likely to report no absences. Teachers in recognized school districts were more likely to report one absence. Teachers in the acceptable school districts were more likely to report zero or one absence, while those teaching in a low performing school raking were more likely to report 2+ absence

Occupational Factors for Absenteeism: Personal-Illness

The univariate results for the occupational factors are displayed in Table 3. A oneway between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of job involvement on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was a significant effect of the level of job involvement on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 2197) = 3.62, p = .027]. Teachers with two or more absences had lower mean job involvement scores compared to the teachers in the one absence condition and the no absenteeism condition.

A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of job control on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was a significant effect of the level of job control on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 2129) = 25.36, <.001]. Teachers in the two more absences reported lower job control compared to the teachers in the one absence condition and the no absenteeism condition.

A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of school climate on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was a significant effect of job climate on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 2053) = 36.20, p <.001]. Teachers with two more absences indicated lower school climate scores compared to teachers in the one absence condition and the no absenteeism condition

28

A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of school problems on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was a significant effect of school problems on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 2058) = 20.48, p < .001]. Teachers in the two more absence group reported significantly higher amounts of school problems compared to the teachers in the one absence condition and the no absenteeism condition.

Health Factors for Absenteeism : Personal-Illness

The results from the univariate analyses for the health factors are displayed in Table 4. A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of perceived stress on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was a significant effect of perceived stress on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 1920) = 29.77, p < .001]. Teachers in the two more absences reported significantly higher perceived stress scores as compared to those in the one absence condition and the no absenteeism condition.

A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of mental quality of life on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was a significant effect of mental quality of life on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 1819) = 24.77, p < .001]. Teachers in the one absence or two more absences groups reported worse mental quality of life compared to the teachers in the no absenteeism condition.

A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of physical quality of life on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was a significant effect of physical quality of life on absenteeism at the p<.05 level for the three conditions [F(2, 1819) = 73.99, p <.001]. Teachers in the one absence or two more absences groups reported worse physical quality of life compared to the teachers in the no absenteeism condition.

A Chi-square was conducted to compare the effect of depression on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. The percentage of participants with depression differed significantly between the no absenteeism, one absence, and two or more absences groups, χ^2 (2, N = 1987) = 27.24, p < .001. Teachers with depression were more likely to report one or 2+ absences, while teacher that reported no depression were more likely to have no absences.

A Chi-square was conducted to compare the effect of anxiety on personal illness absenteeism in no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. The percentage of teachers with an anxiety disorder differed significantly between the no absence, one absence, and two or more absences groups X^2 (2, N = 1986) = 48.06, p < .001. Teachers with anxiety were more likely to report one or 2+ absences, while teachers with no anxiety were more likely to report no absences.

A Chi-square was conducted to compare the effect of panic disorder on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more

absences conditions. The percentage of teachers with a panic disorder differed significantly between the no absenteeism, one absence and two or more absences groups, χ^2 (2, N = 1987) = 27.24, p < .001. Individuals with panic disorder were more likely to report one or 2+ absences. Teachers with no panic disorder were more likely to report no absences.

A Chi-square was conducted to compare the effect of somatization disorder on personal illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. The percentage teachers with somatization disorder differed significantly between the no absenteeism, one absence and two or more absences groups, χ^2 (2, N = 1906) = 195.7, p < .001. Individuals with somatization disorder were more likely to report one or 2+ absences while teachers with no somatization disorder more likely to report zero and one absence.

Demographic Factors for Absenteeism: Personal-Non-Illness

All data were prescreened for outliers and missing data prior to analyses. Indicators most associated with absenteeism in the personal non-illness category were determined by the free response question: "how many days have you been absent from work due to personal non-illness in the past 4 weeks?" All responses were coded and grouped into the following categories: no absenteeism, absenteeism (one absence), and absenteeism (two absences or more). The univariate analyses were conducted to determine if the differences between individuals with no absences (no absenteeism), absenteeism (one absence) and absenteeism (two or more absences) in a period of 4 weeks. The results of the univariate analyses for the demographic factors are displayed in Table 5. A Chi-square was conducted to compare the effect of gender on personal nonillness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. The percentage of participants that reported no absenteeism, one absence and two or more absences did not differ by gender, χ^2 (2, N = 2302) = .392, p = .822.

A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of age on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was a significant effect of age on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 2286) = 5.13, p = .006]. Teachers in the two or more absences group were significantly older compared to those in the one absence condition and the no absenteeism condition.

A Chi-square was conducted to compare the effect of ethnicity on personal nonillness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. The percentage of participants that reported no absenteeism, one absence, and two or more absences do not differ by ethnicity, X^2 (12, N = 2301) = 9.03, p =.700.

A Chi-square was conducted to compare the effect of marital status on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. The percentage of participants that reported no absenteeism, one absence and two or more absences differed significantly by marital status χ^2 (8, N =

2269) = 16.65, p =.034. Teachers who are single were less likely to report two or more absences.

Teacher Factors for Absenteeism: Personal-Non-Illness

The results of the univariate analyses for the teacher factors are displayed in Table 6. A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of years teaching on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was not a significant difference in years teaching on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 2296) = 2.47, p = .080].

A Chi-square was conducted to compare the effect of certificate route on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. The percentage of participants that reported no absenteeism, one absence, and two or more absences did not differ by certification mode, X^2 (6, N = 2302) = 9.01, p = .173.

A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of work hours in a day on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was not a significant difference in the work hours in a day between the three conditions [F(2, 2205) = 1.61 p = .199].

A Chi-square was conducted to compare the effect of teaching core courses on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. The percentage of participants that reported no absenteeism, one absence, and two or more absences did not differ significantly by core course load, χ^2 (2, N = 2302) = 2.935, p = .230. A Chi-square was conducted to compare the effect of area location (rural, suburban, and rural) on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. The percentage of participants that reported no absenteeism, one absence and two or more absences differed significantly by area location, λ^2 (6, N = 2302) = 13.55, p =.035. Teachers in rural areas were more likely to have one or no absences. Those in sub-urban areas were more likely to have either no absences or 2+ absences, while those in the urban areas were more likely to have none to one absence.

A Chi-square was conducted to compare the effect of school level on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. The percentage of participants that reported no absenteeism, one absence and two or more absences did not differ significantly by school level, λ^2 (12, N = 2302) = 16.56, p = .167.

A Chi-square was conducted to compare the effect of current school rating on personal non-illness absenteeism in no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. The percentage of participants that reported no absenteeism, one absence and two or more absences do not differ significantly by school rating. χ^2 (6, N = 1868) = 5.81, p = .444.

Occupational Factors for Absenteeism: Personal-Non-Illness

The results of the univariate analyses for the occupational factors are displayed in Table 7. A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of job involvement on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was a significant effect of the level of job involvement on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 2205) = 13.46, p < .001]. Teachers in the two more absences group had significantly lower job involvement scores compared to those in the one absence condition and the no absenteeism condition.

A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of job control on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was no significant effect of the level of job control on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 2122) = 2.22, p=.108].

A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of school climate on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was a significant effect of the level of school climate on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 2039) = 5.39, p = .005]. Teachers in the two or more absences group reported significantly lower scores for school climate as compared to teachers in the one absence condition and the no absenteeism condition.

A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of school problems on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was not a significant effect of school problems on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 2015) = 2.66, p = .070].

Health Factors for Absenteeism: Personal-Non-Illness

The results of the univariate analyses for the health factors are displayed in Table 8. A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of perceived stress on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was not a significant difference in perceived stress levels between the three conditions [F(2, 1923) = .608, p = .545].

A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of mental quality of life on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was not a significant effect of mental quality of life on absenteeism at the p<.05 level for the three conditions [F(2, 1811) = 1.28, p = 277].

A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of physical quality of life on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. There was a significant effect of physical quality of life on absenteeism for the three conditions [F(2, 1812) = 3.56, p = .028]. Teachers reporting better physical quality of life scores were less likely to indicate absences for personal non-illness.

A Chi-square was conducted to compare the effects of Axis I psychopathology (depression, anxiety, panic, and somatization disorders) on personal non-illness absenteeism in the no absence, one absence absenteeism, and two or more absences conditions. The percentage of participants that reported no absenteeism, one absence and two or more absences did not differ significantly by the presence of depression, λ^2 (2, N

= 1985) = 3.01, p=.221, anxiety, $\Box \Box^2$ (2, N = 1985) = .434, p =805, panic disorder, χ^2 (2, N = 2030) = .018, p =.724, or somatization disorder, χ^2 (2, N = 2056) = .032, p =.984.

Multivariate Analysis for Overall Absenteeism

Two negative binomial regressions were performed to ascertain the key variables related to absenteeism for personal-illness absenteeism and personal-non-illness absenteeism. Variables found significant at the univariate level were included in each of the models.

Multivariate Analysis for Overall Absenteeism: Demographics Factors

For demographic comparisons, age was found to be a significant factor that affects personal illness absenteeism but not personal non-illness absenteeism, such that an increase of age increases the level of personal illness absenteeism. As the age of the teacher increases by one year, they are 1% more likely to increase their level of absenteeism. X^2 (2082)=5.51, B=.010, P=.019.

Ethnicity was found to be a significant factor that affects personal illness absenteeism, but not personal non-illness absenteeism. For personal illness absenteeism, the Caucasian group was used as the reference group. African American teachers have a 20% less likelihood of personal-illness absenteeism, as compared to Caucasians. X^2 (2082) =3.90, B=-.226, P=.048.

Marital status was found to be a significant factor that affects personal illness absenteeism but not personal non-illness absenteeism, such that an individual who reported being single had a decrease in the level of personal illness absenteeism. Single individuals have a 45% less level of absenteeism compared to married individuals. X^2 (2082) =-.614, B=2.67, P=.019.

Multivariate Analysis for Overall Absenteeism: Occupational Factors

Occupational factors, including certificate method, work hours/day, area location, current school climate and school problems were included in the negative binomial regression models for overall absenteeism, if they were significant at the univariate level for the personal illness or personal non-illness comparisons.

School area was found to be a significant factor that affects personal illness absenteeism and personal non-illness absenteeism. For personal illness, teachers in urban areas are 47% less likely than teachers in suburban areas to report absenteeism. χ^2 (2082) =8.06 B=-.643, P=.005. For personal non-illness, teachers in rural areas are more likely to report absences as compared to teachers from suburban areas, χ^2 (2082) =3.93 B=.115, P=.047.

School level was found to be a significant factor that affects personal-illness absenteeism, such that teachers in elementary schools lower likelihood of absenteeism as compared to teachers in high schools. Participants in elementary schools are 24% less likely to be absent, χ^2 (2082) =4.62 B= -.278, P=.031.

Job involvement was found to be a significant factor that affects personal-nonillness absenteeism, such that teachers with high job involvement have decreased levels of absenteeism. Participants with an increase of 1 unit of job involvement are 2.1% more likely to decrease their level of absenteeism. χ^2 (2082) =19.59 B= -.022, P<.001.

Multivariate Analysis for Absenteeism: Health Factors

Health factors, including perceived stress, mental quality of life, and physical quality of life, major depression, panic disorder and somatization disorder, were assessed at the multivariate level for personal-illness absenteeism and personal-non-illness absenteeism, if identified as significant at the univariate level.

Physical quality of life was found to be a significant factor that affects personal illness absenteeism but not personal non-illness absenteeism such that those with a better physical quality of life have a decreased level of absenteeism. When participants increase their physical quality of life by one unit they are 4% more likely to decrease their level of personal illness absenteeism. χ^2 (2082) =54.52 B= -.042, P<.001.

Mental quality of life was found to be a significant factor that affects personal illness absenteeism but not personal non-illness absenteeism, such that those with a better physical quality of life have a decreased level of absenteeism. When participants increase their mental quality of life by one unit they are 1.6% more likely to decrease their level of personal illness absenteeism. χ^2 (2082) =6.62 B= -.017, P=.010.

VI. DISCUSSION

The purpose of the current study was to carefully evaluate the demographic, occupational, and health factors most associated with teacher absenteeism within the Texas public school system. In the general workplace, absenteeism has been shown to decrease the morale of employees, disrupt the flow of the workplace, and damage the morale of those individuals covering for those absent (Hemp, 2004). The current study used a biopsychosocial approach to evaluate the factors that influence absenteeism in the teaching profession, including demographic factors (gender, age, race/ethnicity, marital status), occupational factors (years teaching, certificate method, work hours per day, core classes, area location, school level, current school rating, job involvement, job control, school climate, and school problems), and health factors (perceived stress, mental quality of life, physical quality of life, major depression, anxiety disorder, panic disorder and somatization disorder).

Contrary to Hypothesis 1, gender was not found to be a significant factor for absenteeism for personal-illness or personal-non-illness at the univariate level. Previously, gender has been observed as a factor in absenteeism, such that male teachers have been shown to have lower rates of absenteeism than females (Farrell & Stamm 1988; Scott & McClellan 1990; Steel & Rentsch 1995). The majority of participants in the study being female could explain this null result.

Rosenblatt and Shirom (2005) described that professionalism is positively related to years of experience, yielding higher commitment to work. Furthermore, elevated levels of job involvement and control have been observed in more experienced teachers (Chaudhury & Ng 1992). Hypothesis 3, stating that fewer years of experience will be

40

related to absenteeism was not supported for the personal-illness absenteeism or for the personal-non-illness absenteeism. It is possible that the teachers who report more years teaching are more committed to the profession but this does not determine how many days of work are going to be missed during their school year.

Hypothesis 4 predicted that teaching core courses would be factor that had an effect on absenteeism. A significant effect was not found in either the personal-illness or the personal-non-illness absenteeism conditions at the univariate level. This finding could be due to the fact that the number of courses that are electives are fewer than the number of required courses, and therefore more teachers will, at some point, be required to teach core courses. Area type (urban, rural and sub-urban) has been observed as a key factor for absenteeism (Scott & Wimbush, 1991). The types of areas where teachers work have an effect on the behavior of teachers at the work place. Hypothesis 5 predicted the area of a school to have an effect on teacher absenteeism. This hypothesis was supported for personal-illness and personal-non-illness. Teachers in rural settings were less likely to have two or more absences compared to teachers in urban and suburban settings for personal illnesses. For personal non-illnesses, teachers in suburban settings were more likely to report two or more absences. Further research is necessary to determine what factors within these areas contribute to absenteeism, such as income and accessibility to school resources. The area where a school is located may be related to many other factors that can affect not only the teachers, but the students as well; transportation, access to resources in order to teach/learn and distance traveled to attend work/school.

School level in Hypothesis 6 was predicted to have an effect on absenteeism levels. This hypothesis was supported only for personal-illness and not for the

personalnon-illness absenteeism. Teachers in the elementary school level were more likely to not miss work due to a personal illness. The teachers in the junior high school position missed two or more days for personal illness and non-personal, but at a lower rate compared to elementary and high school settings. The results of this study suggest that the majority of absenteeism is at the ends of the K-12 spectrum. Perhaps teaching younger children and young adults drive teachers to report higher levels of absenteeism, but this hypothesis needs to be explored in future studies.

In Hypothesis 7, lower school ratings were expected to have an effect on absenteeism. Only personal-illness absenteeism showed significance, suggesting that the better the school rating the less likely the individual would miss a day of work for personal-illness. This finding also shows that teachers in schools with acceptable school ratings and those in low performing schools were more likely to miss two or more days of work due to an illness and a personal non-illness. Teachers in exemplary schools were less likely to miss work at all.

School problems were predicted to influence absenteeism for teachers. Hypothesis 8 stated that school problems would have an effect on absenteeism and this was supported by the results. Conflict and stress within the workplace reduces commitment and lowers the likelihood for a teacher to remain in his/her job (Billingsley & Cross, 1992). Teachers that are exposed to constant problems at work are likely to be discouraged from going to work. A significant difference was found to have an effect on absenteeism for personal-illness, but not for personal-non-illness. Teachers that reported more school problems also reported higher levels of absenteeism, having the biggest differences when they reported to be absent due to a personal illness. Job involvement and job satisfaction have become more common factors when approaching the problem of absenteeism. High levels of commitment have been shown to lead to a lower likelihood of a teacher missing days at work (Billingsley & Cross, 1992). Hypothesis 8 predicted that low job involvement would have an effect on absenteeism. This hypothesis was supported for personal-illness absenteeism and personal-non-illness absenteeism. Teachers show less absenteeism when they reported being involved in their job for the personal illness condition, and, when the absence was due to a non-personal illness the differences between zero absences, one absence and two or more absences were smaller but still significant.

How satisfied teachers are with their job can be linked to the support one has within the job environment and how much control they feel they have over their environment (Landy & Conte, 2013; Mondal et al., 2011). In Hypothesis 10 and 11, low job control and poor school climate were predicted to be associated with absenteeism. The results showed that the better control teachers have of their environment, the lower the amount of absenteeism was reported. This hypothesis was supported for personalillness absenteeism but not for personal-non-illness, suggesting that perhaps teachers' control of their environment is only an important factor when they have to miss school due to illness.

The presence of Axis I Psychopathology (Depression, Anxiety, Panic, and Somatization) was assessed in its relationship to absenteeism. Based on the results of the current study, depression, anxiety, panic, and somatization disorders were significantly associated with higher rates of absenteeism for personal illness, but not for personal nonillness. There are two recent publications that look specifically at depression and somatization in teacher populations (Besse et al., 2015; Howard et al., 2017). Depression has been reported in teachers more often than in other occupations (Dworkin et al., 1990; Yang et al., 2009). Hypothesis 13 predicted that major depression would have an effect on absenteeism. Although a great portion of the teachers reported having a depression disorder, the rates of absenteeism were low regardless of the presence of the disorder. Depression in a teacher population has also been associated with several other variables, including job control, satisfaction, and mental and physical health (Besse et, al. 2015). Besse et al. (2015) conducted a study on depression in teachers and also found depression to be a key factor in absenteeism, reinforcing the idea of how important is mental health in the work place. Somatization disorder was also analyzed as a factor that could affect absenteeism. Somatization disorder has been linked to higher levels of stress, poorer physical quality of life, major depression, panic and anxiety disorder in teacher populations (Howard et al., 2017). These factors also were found to have an effect in absenteeism in the current study. Somatization disorder was found to have an effect on personal illness absenteeism where teachers reported being more likely to have two or more absences, but not in the non-personal illness absenteeism where the differences were not found to be significant. In Hypothesis 13 it was predicted that higher amounts of perceived stress would have a negative effect on the level of absenteeism. This hypothesis was supported for personal-illness absenteeism but not for personal-nonillness absenteeism. The higher the amount of perceived stress teachers reported, the more likely that the individual would miss work for personal illness.

Perceived stress was predicted to be associated with higher rates of absenteeism for teachers. Prior studies on teacher populations associated stress with age (Mondal et al., 2011; Trendal, 1989), tenure (Haverman, 2007; Shakrani, 2008; and Shen 1997), and school areas (Haverman, 2007). Additionally, stress has been linked with physical and mental health issues in teacher populations (Dworkin et al., 1990; Yang et al., 2009). The results from the current study found perceived stress to be significantly associated with absenteeism for personal illness.

Physical Quality of Life in Hypothesis 15 was predicted to have a negative relationship with absenteeism. The current study found that the better the quality of physical life, the less likely the individual will miss work. Mental Quality of Life was included in Hypothesis 16 in this study, in which it was predicted to have a negative relationship with absenteeism. The hypothesis was supported for personal-illness but not for personal-non-illness absenteeism so that, the better the quality of physical quality of life the less likely the individual will miss work. Teachers were more likely to have two or more absences if the mental health was poor.

Limitations

There are some limitations to this study. First, only self-reported data was collected. A possible course for future studies is to use self-reported information from participants as well as the records of their employers and compare the two, offering a more accurate description of the causes of absenteeism by using two measurements to verify self-reports in the factors affecting absenteeism. The current study only evaluated teachers in the state of Texas. Future research should also seek to expand to different states in the United States in order to examine differences and similarities that may occur between distinct geographic regions of the country. Another limitation is the skewed ratio of female participants that responded to this study compared to male participants, although this ratio is not a surprise due to the rate of males/females in the teaching profession in the state of Texas. It would be advisable to continue the collection of data that includes a higher number of male participants in order to properly compare absenteeism based on gender.

The current study evaluated absences for both personal illness and personal nonillness for teacher populations. It is important to note that teachers are provided with limited days off each year. The survey was conducted in February and assessed absenteeism in the past four weeks, following the winter break. It is possible that absences were lower at this time because it followed a two-week break or because the teachers had either already used their allotted days off or were saving their days off for later in the year. Future research should evaluate the rates of absenteeism at differing times during the school year.

In conclusion, the goal of this study was to use a biopsychosocial approach to understanding factors that influence absenteeism in the teaching profession. Although some of these factors identified to be significantly related to absenteeism are fixed, this study suggests that there are occupational and health factors which can be better controlled by improving work conditions. This, in turn, can lead to better mental and physical quality of life and is likely to decrease absenteeism among teachers. Also, exploring what make schools in different areas have different rates of absenteeism (income, access to resources, etc.) could open up more ways to address this problem.

46

Analysis of Demographic Factors

Evaluating Demographic Indicators Most Associated with Absenteeism in the Teaching Profession for Personal-Illness						
Variables	No Absenteeism (0 absences) N=1396	Absenteeism (1 Absence) N=552	Absenteeism (2 or more) N=354	Statistical Comparison p value Two Tails		
Gender % Female Male	22 78	20 79.7	18.3 81.5	P= .315		
Age(in years) Mean (St. Dev)	42.4* (11.3)	42.8* (10.9)	44.5** (11.4)	P=.009		
Race/Ethnicity % White/Caucasian African American Hispanic	70.2 8.5 21.4	66.4 6.2 27.4	61.3 12.1 26.6	P=.001		
Marital Status % Single Married Other	21.0 65.4 13.2	24.5 62.7 12.7	26.4 55.4 18.3	P<.001		

Analysis of Teacher Indicators

Evaluating Teacher Indicators Most Associated with Absorbatism in the Teaching Profession for Personal Ulasso						
Variables	No Absenteeism (0 absences)	Absenteeism (1 absence)	Absenteeism (2 or more	Statistical Comparison		
	N=1396	N=552	Absences) N=354	value Two Tails		
Years Teaching (In						
years)	12.4	13.2	13.2	P=.160		
Mean	(9.2)	(8.7)	(8.9)			
(St. Dev)						
Certificate %						
Iraditional	64	64.8	57	P=.020		
Alternative	34.1	31.3	41.1			
Oulei	1.5	5.4	1.7			
Work Hours/Day						
Mean	12.03*	12.04*	12.81**	P=.006		
(St. Dev)	(3.9)	(3.9)	(4.9)			
Core Classes%						
Yes	60	60.5	63	P=.575		
No	40	39.5	37			
Area Location %						
Rural Area	10.4	12.8	6.2			
Sub-Urban Area	33.3	23.5	30.2	P<.001		
Urban Area	56.3	63.5	63.6			
School Level %						
Elementary	43.1	40.2	37.4 30.4			
Middle Jr H School	20.3	20.1	30.2	P=.006		
High School	32.4	36.1				
Current School						
Rating %						
Exemplary	17	11	10	P<.001		
Recognized	30.8	38.2	25.7 41.8			
Acceptable	38.4	38.2	22.5			
Low Performing	13.2	12.5				

L	Iniv	ariate	Analy	sis	of C	Эсси	pational	Indicators
					/ -			

Univariate Analysis Evaluating Occupational Indicators Most Associated with Absenteeism in the Teaching Profession for Personal-Illness							
Variables	No Absenteeism (0 absences) N=1396	Absenteeism (1 or more) N=552	Absenteeism (2 or more Absences) N=354	Statistical Comparison p value Two Tails			
Job Involvement: Mean (St. Dev)	53.64* (7.5)	53.6* (7.2)	52.4** (7.3)	P=.027			
Job Control: Mean (St. Dev)	17.6* (3.7)	16.9** (3.7)	16.0*** (4.4)	P<.001			
School Climate: Mean (St. Dev)	43.6* (8.1)	41.1** (8.1)	39.6*** (8.5)	P=.012			
School Problems: Mean (St. Dev)	24.88* (6.3)	26.59** (6.2)	26.93*** (6.4)	P<.001			

Univariate Analysis of Health Indicators

Univariate Analysis Evaluating Health Indicators Most Associated with Absenteeism in the Teaching Profession for Personal-Illness Absenteeism							
Variables	No Absenteeism (0 absences) N=1396	Absenteeism (1 or more)Absenteeisn (2 or more Absences)N=552N=354		Statistical Comparison <i>p</i> value Two Tails			
Perceived Stress: Mean (St. Dev)	17.54* (7.3)	20.0** (7.1)	20.4* (6.8)	P<.001			
SF-36 Mental Quality of Life: Mean (St. Dev)	43.3* (12.6)	39.1** (13.4)	38.5*** (12.7)	P<.001			
SF-36 Physical Quality of Life Mean (St. Dev)	52.2* (8.5)	48.9** (9.6)	45.3** (10.0)	P<.001			
Major Depression Yes No	23.8 76.2	33.3 66.7	36.3 63.7	P<.001			
Anxiety Disorder Yes No	26.6 73.4	40.9 59.1	43 57	P<.001			
Panic Disorder Yes No	5.7 94.3	16.4 83.6	16 84	P<.001			
Somatization Disorder % Yes No	26.8 73.2	43.3 56.6	51.7 48.3	P<.001			

Univariate Analysis Evaluating Demographic Indicators Most Associated with Teaching Profession for Non- Illness Absenteeism						
Variables	No Absenteeism (0 absences) N=1510	Absenteeism (1 Absence) N=438	Absenteeism (2 or more) N=357	Statistical Comparison p value Two Tails		
Gender Female Male	78.4 21.6	77.9 22.1	76.8 23.2	P=.822		
Age(in years) Mean (St. Dev)	42.7 (11.3)	41.6* (11.4)	44.14* (11.97)	P=.006		
Race/Ethnicity % African American White/Caucasian Hispanic	9.4 69.1 21.6	7.7 67.0 25.3	7.3 67.2 25.6	P=.207		
Marital Status % Single Married Other	21.8 63.4 14.8	24.0 64.7 11.3	16.0 67.4 16.6	P=.034		

Univariate Analysis of Demographic Factors

Univariate Analysis Evaluating Teacher Indicators Most Associated with the Teaching Profession for Non-Illness Absenteeism						
Variables	No Absenteeism (0 absences) N=1510	Absenteeism (1 absence) N=438	Absenteeism (2 or more Absences) N=357	Statistical Comparison p value Two Tails		
Years Teaching(In years) Mean (St. Dev)	12.65 (9.27)	12.14 (8.80)	13.54 (9.60)	P=.084		
Certificate % Traditional Alternative Other	63.7 34.2 1.5	62.7 34.2 3.1	65.2 32.9 1.7	P=.173		
Work Hours/Day Mean (St. Dev)	7.94 (.82)	7.93 (.92)	7.99 (.82)	P=.596		
Core Classes% Yes No	59.5 40.5	60 40	64.4 35.6	P=.230		
Area Location % Rural Area Sub-Urban Area Urban Area	11 31.3 57.4	11.2 28.6 60	7.6 38.7 53.7	P=.035		
School Level % Elementary Middle Jr H School High School Other	41.5 21.1 34.7 7.1	45.1 18.5 31.3 4.9	37 26.6 31.9 6.6	P=.167		
Current School Rating Exemplary Recognized Acceptable Low Performing	15.5 31.9 37.9 14.7	19.2 28.8 37.6 14.4	15.5 30.3 41.9 12.3	P=.444		

Univariate Analysis of Teacher Indicators

Univariate Analysis Evaluating Occupational Indicators Most Associated with Teaching Profession for Non-Illness Absenteeism							
Variables	No Absenteeism (0 absences)Absenteeism (1 or more)AN=1510N=438		Absenteeism (2 or more Absences) N=357	Statistical Comparison p value Two Tails			
Job Involvement: Mean (St. Dev)	54.0* (7.5)	52.0** (7.1)	52.1** (7.6)	P<.001			
Job Control: Mean (St. Dev)	17.3 (3.9)	17.7 (3.52)	17.1 (3.6)	P=.108			
School Climate: Mean (St. Dev)	Mean 43.1* 42.4** (8.3) (7.8)		41.5* (8.4)	P=.005			
School Problems: Mean (St. Dev)	25.2 (6.4)	25.3 (6.6)	26.1 (6.5)	P=.070			

Univariate Analysis of Occupational Indicators

Univariate Analysis of Health Indicators

Univariate Analysis Evaluating Health Indicators Most Associated with Absenteeism in the Teaching Profession for Non-Illness Absenteeism								
	the reaching rolession for ron-miless Absenteelsin							
Variables	No Absenteeism (0 absences) N = 1510	Absenteeism (1 or more) N =438	Absenteeism (2 or more Absences) N=354	Statistical Comparison p value Two Tails				
Perceived Stress: Mean	18.2 (7.5)	18.5 (6.9)	18.6 (6.9)	P=.545				
SF-36 Mental Quality of Life: Mean (St. Dev)	42.1 (13.0)	41.1 (12.8)	41.29 (12.6)	P=.227				
SF-36 Physical Quality of Life Mean (St. Dev)	51.6* (8.7)	50.2 ** (9.6)	51.5** (8.9)	P=.028				
Major Depression% Yes No	26.9 73.1	22.9 77.1	27.1 72.9	P=.221				
Anxiety Disorder% Yes No	30.4 69.6	31 68.1	32.2 67.8	P=.805				
Panic Disorder % Yes No	8.3 91.7	7.2 92.8	8.4 91.6	P=.724				
Somatization Disorder % Yes No	31.2 68.8	31.6 68.4	31.3 68.7	P=.984				

Multivariate Analysis of Occupational, Health, and Demographic Indicators

Multivariate Analysis Evaluating Occupational, Health, and Demographic Indicators Most Associated with absenteeism in Teaching Profession for Personal Illness					
N =2082	В	Wald X2	p-value	95% CI	
Demographic Factors Age Race/Ethnicity (Ref: White/Caucasian) African American Hispanic Marital Status (Ref: Single) Single Married Separated Divorced Widowed	.010 226 263 614 248 197 355	5.51 4.17 3.90 1.68 11.79 2.67 2.48 .2.99 10.99	.019 .124 .048 .194 .019 .102 .115 .585 .001	[.002, .019] [659, .134] [659, .134] [556, .060] [.510,.299] [542,069]	
<u>Health Factors</u> Perceived Stress Sf-36 Physical Quality of Life Sf-36 Mental Quality of Life Major Depression Panic Disorder Somatization Disorder	003 042 017 .001 .274 .224	.050 54.52 6.62 .00 2.74 3.32	.823 .000 .010 .994 .097 .068	[025, .020] [053,031] [030,004] [249, .250] [050, .598] [017, .464]	

Multivariate Analysis Evaluating Occupational, Health, and Demographic Indicators Most Associated with absenteeism in Teaching Profession for Personal Illness					
N =2082	В	Wald X2	p-value	95% CI	
Occupational Teacher Factors Certificate Work Hours/Day Area Location (Ref: Sub-Urban Area) Urban Area Rural Area School Level (Ref: High School)	008 643 .013	.501 8.94 8.06 .012 5.04	.478 .030 .005 .911 .080 .031	[031, .015] [-1.08, -1.99] [209, .234]	
Middle Jr High School Current School Rating (Ref: Low Performing) Exemplary Recognized	278 073 .005 .157	4.62 .295 1.75 .001 .874	.031 .587 .624 .981 .350	[337, .191] [433, .444] [172, .486]	
Acceptable Job Involvement Job Control School Climate School Problems	010 025 007 001	.948 1.97 3.02 .646 .015	.330 .160 .082 .421 .904	[.153, .456] [024, .004] [054, .003] [024,010] [023, .020]	
Constant	3.74	10.53	.001	[1.48, 6.01]	

Multivariate Analysis Evaluating Occupational, Health, and Demographic Indicators Most Associated with absenteeism in the Teaching Profession for NonPersonal Illness						
N =2082	В	Wald X2	p-value	95% CI		
Demographic Factors Age Marital Status	.012	11.64	.493	[.005, .018]		
<u>Health Factors</u> Sf-36 Physical Quality of Life	.003	3.29	.070	[005, .011]		
Occupational Teacher Factors Job Involvement School Climate Area Location (Ref: Sub-Urban Area) Urban Area Rural Area	022 008 064 .155	19.59 .471 .209 3.93	.000 .070 .647 .047	[017, .001] [005, .011] [339, .211] [.002, .308]		
Constant	288	.280	.597	[-3.398, .907]		

Multivariate Analysis of Occupational, Health, and Demographic Indicators

Variables	Frequency	Percentage
Gender Fema Ma	e 2543 e 716	22 78
Race/Ethnicity White/Caucasia African America Hispan Othe	n 2148 n 287 c 703 r 121	65.9 8.8 21.6 3.7

Frequency Distribution of Demographics

APPENDIX SECTION

APPENDIX A

Organizational Commitment

Directions: Answer on a continuum to what extent do you agree with each of the following statements.

Agree is defined as: Strongly Disagree, Somewhat Disagree, Somewhat Agree, Strongly Agree

- The stress and disappointments involved in teaching at this school aren't really worth it.
- 2. The teachers at this school like being here; I would describe us as a satisfied group.
- 3. I like the way things are run at this school.
- 4. If I could get a higher paying job I'd leave teaching as soon as possible.
- 5. I think about transferring to another school.
- 6. I don't seem to have as much enthusiasm now as I did when I began teaching.
- 7. I think about staying home from school because I'm just too tired to go.

APPENDIX B

Job Involvement Survey

Directions: Indicate on a continuum to what extent do you agree with each of the following statements.

Agreement defined as: Strongly Disagree, Disagree, Agree, Strongly Agree

- 1. I'll stay overtime to finish a job, even if I'm not paid for it.
- 2. You can measure a person pretty well by how good a job he does.
- 3. The major satisfaction in my life comes from my job.
- 4. For me, mornings at work really fly by.
- 5. I usually show up for work a little early, to get things ready.
- 6. The most important things that happen to me involve my work.
- 7. Sometimes I lie awake at night thinking ahead to the next day's work.
- 8. I'm really a perfectionist about my work.
- 9. I feel depressed when I fail at something connected with my job.
- 10. I have other activities more important than my work.
- 11. I live, eat, and breathe my job.
- 12. I would probably keep working even if I didn't need the money.
- 13. Quite often I feel like staying home from work instead of coming in.
- 14. To me, my work is only a small part of who I am.
- 15. I am very much involved personally in my work.
- 16. I avoid taking on extra duties and responsibilities in my work.

- 17. I used to be more ambitious about my work than I am now.
- 18. Most things in life are more important than work.
- 19. I used to care more about my work, but now other things are more important to me.
- 20. Sometimes I'd like to kick myself for the mistakes I make in my work.

APPENDIX C

Satisfaction of Support

Directions: Indicate Rate your level of satisfaction of support you receive 10 point sliding scale.

Satisfaction defined as: Dissatisfied (0-2), Somewhat Dissatisfied (2-4), Neutral (4-6)

Somewhat Satisfied (6-8); Satisfied (8-10)

- 1. Support from District Administrative
- 2. Support from Community
- 3. Support from Legislators, Support from Principle
- 4. Support from Assistant Principle/Dean
- 5. Support from Counselors
- 6. Support from Special Education Services
- 7. Support from Grade-level teachers
- 8. Support from Subject-level teachers
- 9. Support from Parents
- 10. Support from Students
APPENDIX D

Control in the Classroom

Directions: On a 4-point scale, indicate how much actual control you have in planning and teaching in your current classroom?

Control defined as: No Control, Minor Control, Moderate Control, and Great Deal of

Control

- 1. Selecting textbooks and other instructional material
- 2. Selecting content, topics, and skills to be taught.
- 3. Selecting teaching techniques
- 4. Evaluating and grading students
- 5. Disciplining students
- 6. Determining the amount of homework to be assigned

APPENDIX E

School Climate

Directions: Indicate on a continuum of agreement to what extent do you agree with the following statements.

Agreement defined as: Strongly Disagree, Somewhat Disagree, Somewhat Agree,

Strongly Agree

- 1. The school administration's behavior toward the staff is supportive and encouraging.
- 2. I am satisfied with my teaching salary.
- 3. The level of student misbehavior in this school (such as noise, horseplay or fighting in the halls, cafeteria, or student lounge) interferes with my teaching.
- 4. I receive a great deal of support from parents for the work I do.
- 5. Necessary materials such as textbooks, supplies, and copy machines are available as needed by the staff.
- 6. Routine duties and paperwork interfere with my job of teaching.
- My principal enforces school rules for student conduct and backs me up when I need it.
- 8. Teachers in this school consistently enforce rules for student behavior, even for students who are not in their classes.
- 9. Most of my colleagues share my beliefs and values about what the central mission of the school should be.
- 10. The principal knows what kind of school he or she wants and has communicated to the staff.

- 11. There is a great deal of cooperative effort among the staff members.
- 12. In this school, staff members are recognized for a job well done.
- 13. I worry about the security of my job because of the performance of my students on state and/or local tests.
- 14. State or district content standards have had a positive influence on my satisfaction with teaching.
- 15. I am given the support I need to teach students with special needs.
- 16. The amount of student tardiness and class cutting in this school interferes with my teaching.
- 17. I am generally satisfied with being a teacher at this school.

APPENDIX F

School Climate Problems

Directions: Indicate to what extent each of the following is a problem in your current school?

Strength of problem defined as: Serious Problem, Moderate Problem, Minor Problem, Not a Problem

- 1. Student tardiness
- 2. Student absenteeism
- 3. Student class cutting
- 4. Teacher absenteeism
- 5. Students dropping out
- 6. Student apathy
- 7. Lack of parent involvement
- 8. Poverty
- 9. Students come to school unprepared to learn
- 10. Poor student health

APPENDIX G

Perceived Stress Scale

Directions: Indicate how often you have experienced these events in the last month. Often is defined as: Never, Almost Never, Sometimes, Fairly Often, Very Often

- 1. Been upset because of something that happened unexpectedly.
- 2. Felt that you were unable to control the important things in your life.
- 3. Felt nervous and "stressed".
- 4. Felt confident about your ability to handle your personal problems.
- 5. Felt that things were going your way.
- 6. Found that you could not cope with all the things that you had to do.
- 7. Been able to control irritations in your life.
- 8. Felt that you were on top of things.
- 9. Been angered because of things that were outside of your control.
- 10. Felt difficulties were piling up so high that you could not overcome them.

APPENDIX H

Mental and Physical Quality of Life Scale

Short Form (36) Health Inventory

Directions: Circle the response to the following questions.

- 1. In general, would you say your health is
 - a. Excellent
 - b. Very Good
 - c. Good
 - d. Fair
 - e. Poor
- 2. Compared to one year ago, how would you rate your health in general now?
 - a. Much better now than one year ago.
 - b. Somewhat better now than one year ago.
 - c. About the same as one year ago.
 - d. Somewhat worse than one year ago
 - e. Much worse than one year ago.

Directions: Indicated if your current health limits you in the following activities that might occur during a typical day.

Limited indicated as: Yes, Limited a lot, Yes, Limited a Little, No, Not Limited at All

 Vigorous activities, such as running, lifting heavy objects, participating in strenuous sports

- 4. Moderate activities, such as moving a table, pushing a vacuum cleaner, bowling, or playing golf
- 5. Lifting or carrying groceries
- 6. Climbing several flights of stairs
- 7. Climbing one flight of stairs
- 8. Bending, kneeling or stooping
- 9. Walking more than a mile
- 10. Walking several blocks
- 11. Walking one block
- 12. Bathing or dressing yourself

Directions: Answer YES or NO to the following questions addressing your activity.

- 13. During the past 4 weeks, have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities as a result of your PHYSICAL HEALTH?
 - a. Cut down on the amount of time you spent on work or other activities
 - b. Accomplished less than you would like
 - c. Were limited in the kind of work or other activities
 - d. Had difficulty performing the work or other activities (for example, it took extra effort)
- 14. During the past 4 weeks, have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities as a result of any EMOTIONAL PROBLEMS (such as feeling depressed or anxious)?
 - a. Cut down on the amount of time you spent on work or other activities

- b. Accomplished less than you would like
- c. Were limited in the kind of work or other activities Directions:

Circle your response to the following questions:

15. During the past 4 weeks, to what extent has your physical health or emotional

problems interfered with your normal social activities with family, friends, neighbors,

or groups? a. Not at All

- b. Slightly
- c. Moderately
- d. Quite a Bit
- e. Extremely
- 16. How much bodily pain have you had during the past 4 weeks?
 - a. None
 - b. Very Mild
 - c. Mild
 - d. Moderate
 - e. Severe
 - f. Very Severe
- 17. During the past 4 weeks, how much did pain interfere with your normal work

(including both work outside the home and housework)?

- a. Not at All
- b. A Little Bit
- c. Moderately
- d. Quite a Bit

- e. Extremely
- 18. During the past 4 weeks, how much of the time has your physical health or emotional problems interfered with your social activities (like visiting with friends, relatives,

etc.)? a. All of the Time

- b. Most of the Time
- c. Some of the Time
- d. A Little of the Time
- e. None of the Time

Directions: Indicate how often during the past 4 weeks have you experience or felt these items. Often defined in terms of time: All of the Time, Most of the Time, A Good Bit of the Time, Some of the Time, A Little of the Time, None of the Time

- 19. Did you feel full of pep?
- 20. Have you been a very nervous person?
- 21. Have you felt so down in the dumps that nothing could cheer you up?
- 22. Have you felt calm and peaceful?
- 23. Did you have a lot of energy?
- 24. Have you felt downhearted and blue?
- 25. Did you feel worn out?
- 26. Have you been a happy person?
- 27. Did you feel tired?

Directions indicate how true or false the following statements are in relation to you.

Truth defined as: Definitely True, Mostly True, Don't Know, Mostly False, and Definitely False

- 28. I seem to get sick a little easier than other people
- 29. I am as healthy as anybody I know
- 30. I expect my health to get worse
- 31. My health is excellent

APPENDIX J

Patient Health Questionnaire: Major Depression Disorder

Directions: Indicate how often you have experienced the following problems in the last two weeks.

Often is described in terms of days: Not at all, Several days, More than half the days,

Nearly every day

- 1. Little interest or pleasure in doing things
- 2. Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless
- 3. Trouble falling or staying asleep, or sleeping too much
- 4. Feeling tired or having little energy
- 5. Poor appetite or overeating
- 6. Feeling bad about yourself, or that you are a failure, or have let yourself or your family down
- Trouble concentrating on things, such as reading the newspaper or watching television
- Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed? Or the opposite - being so fidgety or restless that you have been moving around a lot more than usual
- 9. Thoughts that you would be better off dead or of hurting yourself in some way APPENDIX K

Patient Health Questionnaire: Anxiety Disorder

Directions: Indicate how often you have experience the following problems over the last

4 weeks.

Often defined in terms of days: Not at all, Several days, More than Half the Days

- 1. Feeling nervous, anxious, on edge, or worrying a lot about different things
- 2. Feeling restless so that it is hard to sit still
- 3. Getting tired very easily
- 4. Muscle tension, aches, or soreness
- 5. Trouble falling asleep or staying asleep
- 6. Trouble concentrating on things, such as reading a book or watching TV
- 7. Becoming easily annoyed or irritable

APPENDIX L

Patient Health Questionnaire: Somatization Disorder

Directions: Indicate how bothersome the following problems have been in the last 4 weeks.

Bothered defined as: Not bothered, Bothered a little, Bothered a lot

- 1. Stomach pain
- 2. Back pain
- 3. Pain in your arms, legs, or joints (knees, hips, etc.)
- 4. Menstrual cramps or other problems with your periods
- 5. Pain or problems during sexual intercourse
- 6. Headaches
- 7. Chest pain
- 8. Dizziness
- 9. Fainting spells
- 10. Feeling your heart pound or race
- 11. Shortness of breath
- 12. Constipation, loose bowels, or diarrhea
- 13. Nausea, gas, or indigestion

APPENDIX M

Patient Health Questionnaire: Panic Disorder Scale

Directions: Answer Yes or No to the following questions.

- In the last 4 weeks, have you had an anxiety attack; suddenly feeling fear or panic? Yes/No
 - a. If yes, has this ever happened before?
 - b. If yes, do some of these attacks come suddenly out of the blue, that is, in situations where you don't expect to be nervous or uncomfortable?
 - c. If yes, do these attacks bother you a lot or are you worried about having another attack?
 - d. If no, please move to next survey.

Directions: Answer Yes or No to the following questions about your last bad anxiety attack:

- 2. Where you short of breath?
- 3. Did your heart race, pound, or skip?
- 4. Did you have chest pain or pressure?
- 5. Did you sweat?
- 6. Did you feel as if you were choking?
- 7. Did you have hot flashes or chills?
- 8. Did you feel dizzy, unsteady, or faint?
- 9. Did you have tingling or numbness in parts of your body?
- 10. Did you tremble or shake?

11. Were you afraid you were dying?

APPENDIX N

Health History Questionnaire

Directions: Circle the problems or conditions you are currently experiencing.

- 2. General Health
 - a. Epilepsy
 - b. Diabetes
 - c. Stroke Liver disease
 - d. Thyroid problems
 - e. Multiple Sclerosis
 - f. Kidney/bladder problems
 - g. Cancer, please specify:
- 3. Mental Health
 - a. Fatigue Anxiety
 - b. Changes in appetite
 - c. Eating disorder
 - d. Depression
- 4. Allergy
 - a. Drug allergies
 - b. Hay fever
 - c. Food allergies
 - d. Skin rashes
- 5. Ears, Nose, Mouth, Throat
 - a. Earaches Ringing in ears

- b. Of hearing/deafness
- c. Grind teeth while asleep Sinus infection
- d. Clench jaw while asleep

6. Eyes

- a. Blurred vision
- b. Loss of vision
- c. Double vision
- 7. Gastrointestinal
 - a. Heartburn
 - b. Ulcer
 - c. Stomach or abdominal pain
 - d. Nausea/Vomiting
 - e. Persistent diarrhea
 - f. Gall bladder condition
 - g. Persistent constipation
- 8. Heart and Lungs
 - a. Pain in chest
 - b. High cholesterol
 - c. High blood pressure
 - d. Irregular heart beat
 - e. Low blood pressure
- 8. Muscles, Joints, Bones
 - a. Arthritis

- b. Osteoarthritis
- c. Back pain
- 9. Muscle pain or tenderness
 - a. Joint pain
 - b. Tingling extremities
 - c. Joint stiffness or swelling
 - d. Fibromyalgia
 - e. Neck pain
 - f. Difficulty walking
- 10. Neurological
 - a. Balance trouble
 - b. Light-headed or dizziness
 - c. Headaches (non-migraine)
 - d. Memory loss
 - e. Migraines
- 11. Pulmonary
 - a. Asthma
 - b. Shortness of breath
 - c. Chronic or frequent cough
 - Tightness in chest

REFERENCES

- Aarons, G. A., & Sawitzky, A. C. (2006). Organizational climate partially mediates the effect on culture on work attitudes and staff turnover in mental health services.
 Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research, 33(3), 289- 301. doi:10.1007/s10488-006-0039-1
- A Judge., Timothy & Locke., Edwin & C Durham, C. (1997). The dispositional causes of job satisfaction: A core evaluations approach. *Research in Organizational Behavior*. 19. 151-188.
- Anthony Gary Dworkin., C. Allen Haney., Rosalind J. Dworkin., Ruth L. Telschow.
 1990. Stress and Illness Behavior among Urban Public School Teachers. *Educational Administration Quarterly*. 60-72.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X90026001004
- Arnold, H. G., & Feldman, D. C. (1982). A multivariate analysis of determinants of job turnover. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 67(3), 350-360
- Bonnie S. Billingsley. 1993. Teacher Retention and Attrition-in Special and General Education. The journal of Special Education,
- Besse, R., Howard, K., Gonzalez, S. and Howard, J. (2015), Major Depressive Disorder and Public School Teachers: Evaluating Occupational and Health Predictors and Outcomes. *Journal of Applied Biobehavioral Research*, 20: 71–83. doi:10.1111/jabr.12043 .https://doi.org/10.1177/002246699302700202
- Blau, G. J., & Boal, K. B. (1987). Conceptualizing how job involvement and organizational commitment affect turnover and absenteeism. Academy of Management Review, 12(2), 288-300

- Barling, J., & Kelloway, E. K. (1996). Job insecurity and health: The moderating role of workplace control. *Stress Medicine*, *12*, 253-259 doi:10.1002/(SCI)1099-1700(199610)12:4<253::AID-SM1710>3.0.CO;2-2
- Billingsley, B. S. (2004). Special education teacher retention and attrition: A critical analysis of the research literature. *The Journal of Special Education*, *38*, 39-55. doi:10.1177/00224669040380010401
- Baba, V. V., Jamal, M., & Tourigny, L. (1998). Work and mental health: A decade in Canadian research. *Canadian Psychology*, *39* (1-2), 94-107 doi:10.1037/h0086798
- Comer, R. J. (2010). Abnormal Psychology (7th ed.). New York, NY: Worth Publishers.
- Cotton, J. L., & Tuttle, J. M. (1986). Employee turnover: A meta-analysis and review with implications for research. *Academy of Management Review*, 11(1), 55-70. doi:10/5465/AMR.1986.4282625
- Chaudhury, M., & Ng, I. (1992). Absenteeism Predictors: Least Squares, Rank Regression, and Model Selection Results. *The Canadian Journal of Economics / Revue Canadienne D'Economique*, 25(3), 615-635. doi:10.2307/135735
- Clotfelter., Charles & Ladd., Helen & L., Vigdor, Jacob. (2009). Are Teacher Absences Worth Worrying About in the United States?. *Education Finance and Policy*, 4. 115-149.10.1162/edfp.2009.4.2.115
- Diestel, S., Wegge, J., Schmidt, KH. (2014) The impact of social context on the relationship between individual job satisfaction and absenteeism: The roles of different foci of job satisfaction and work-unit absenteeism. *Academy of Management Journal*, 57(2): 353–382

Dow Scott, K & C., Wimbush, James. (1991). Teacher Absenteeism in Secondary Education. *Educational Administration Quarterly*. 27. 506-529.
10.1177/0013161X91027004004

Elshout, R., Scherp, E., & Van Der Feltz-Cornelis, C. (2013). Understanding the link between leadership style, employee satisfaction, and absenteeism: A mixed methods design study in a mental health care institution. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 9, 823-837. doi:org510.2147/NDT.S43755

- Danna, K., & Griffin, R. W. (1999). Health and Well-Being in the Workplace: A Review and Synthesis of the Literature. *Journal of Management*. 25(3), 357-384. doi:10.1177/014920639902500305
- Dow Scott and E L McClellan. (1990). Gender differences in absenteeism" Public Personnel Management Vol. 19 Iss. 2

Dow Scott, K & C. Wimbush, James. (1991). Teacher Absenteeism in Secondary Education. *Educational Administration Quarterly*. 27. 506-529. 10.1177/0013161X91027004004

Esther Duflo, Rema Hanna. (2005). Monitoring Works: Getting Teachers to Come to School. The National Bureau of Economic Research. No. 11880

- Eric Ehrenberg. (1991). School District Leave Policies, Teacher Absenteeism, and
 Student Achievement. *The National Bureau of Economic Research*. pp. 72-105.
 doi: 10.3386/w2874
- Farrell, Dan., & Lee Stamm, Carol. (1988). Meta-Analysis of the Correlates of Employee Absence. *Human Relations*. HUM RELAT. 41. 211-227. 10.1177/001872678804100302

- Fritzsche, B. A., & Parrish, T. J. (2005). Theories and research on job satisfaction. In R. Brown & R. Lent, Eds. *Career development and counseling: Putting theory and research to work*. pp. 180-202
- Gilbody S, Bower P, Fletcher J, Richards D, Sutton AJ. Collaborative Care for
 DepressionA Cumulative Meta-analysis and Review of Longer-term Outcomes.
 Arch Intern Med. 2006;166(21):2314–2321. doi:10.1001/archinte.166.21.2314

Graham-Moore, B. (1986). Administrative Science Quarterly, 31(2), 329-331. doi:10.2307/2392803

- Haberman, M. (2007). Teacher burnout in black and white. *The New Educator*. 1(3), 153175. doi:10.1080/1547688059096603
- Harvey SB, Wessely S. (2009). Chronic fatigue syndrome: identifying zebras amongst the horses. *BMC Med.* 2009;7:58. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-7-58.
- Haynes, M. (2014). On the path to equity: Improving the effectiveness of beginning teachers. *American for Excellent Education*. Retrieved from http://all4ed.org/

Howard K, Haskard-Zolnierek K, Johnson A, Roming S, Price R, Cobos
B.(2017)Somatization disorder and stress in teachers: a comprehensive occupational health evaluation. *J Appl Behav Res*. 2017;22:e12105
https://doi.org/10.1111/jabr.12105

- Hemp, Paul. (2004). Presenteeism: at work-but out of it. Harvard business review. 82.49- 58, 155
- Ichino, Andrea, and Enrico Moretti. (2009). Biological Gender Differences, Absenteeism, and the Earnings Gap. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*.1(1): 183-218

- Jacob, Brian A. (2011). Do Principals Fire the Worst Teachers?. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*. 33(4): 403 – 434
- Johns, G. (1997). Contemporary research on absence from work: Correlates, causes, and consequences. *International review of industrial and organizational psychology*. Vol. 12, pp. 115-173
- Johns, G., & N. Nicholson. (1982) "The Meanings of Absence: New Strategies for Theory and Research. Research in Organizational Behavior. Vol. 4
- Jishnu Das, Stefan Dercon, James Habyarimana and Pramila Krishnan. (2006). Teacher Shocks and Student Learning Evidence from Zambia. *Journal of Human Resources*. 820-862
- Kanungo, R. N. (1982). Measurement of job and work involvement. Journal of Applied Psychology, 67(3), 341-349
- Kiruja EK*, Elegwa Mukuru ,(2013). Effect of Motivation on Employee Performance In Public Middle Level Technical Training Institutions In Kenya. *International Journal of Advances in Management and Economics*. Vol.2, Issue 4, 73-82
- Kuntal Kumar Basak., Pijus Kanti Mondal. (2017). Private Vs public school in the present scenario of secondary education-a case study of Barasat municipality, North 24 Parganas. *International Journal of Interdisciplinary and Multidisciplinary Studies*. Vol 4, No.3,430-441

- Krista Howard, Kelly Haskard-Zolnierek, Angela Johnson, Sinjin Roming, Rachel Price,
 Briana Cobos. (2017). Somatization disorder and stress in teachers: a
 comprehensive occupational health evaluation. *Journal of Applied Biobehavioral Research*.
- Landy, F., & Conte, J. (2013). Work in the 21st Century: An Introduction to Industrial and Organizational Psychology. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Lawler, E. E., & Hall, D. T. (1970). Relationship of job characteristics to job involvement, satisfaction and intrinsic motivation, *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 54 (4), 305-312. doi:10.1037/h0029692
- Lazarus, R., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, Appraisal, and Coping.* New York, NY: Springe Publishing Company.
- Losina, E., Yang, H. Y., Deshpande, B. R., Katz, J. N., & Collins, J. E. (2017). Physical activity and unplanned illness-related work absenteeism: Data from an employee wellness program. *Plos One*, *12*(5), e0176872.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0176872

Miller, A. (2013). Principal turnover and student achievement. Economics of Education

Review. 36, 60–72

Miller, R., Murnane R., and Willett J. (2008) "Do Worker Absences Affect Productivity? The Case of Teachers. *International Labour Review*. 147(1) pp. 71–89

Mount, M., Ilies., R. and Johnson, E. (2006), RELATIONSHIP OF PERSONALITY TRAITS AND COUNTERPRODUCTIVE WORK BEHAVIORS: THE MEDIATING EFFECTS OF JOB SATISFACTION. *Personnel Psychology*, 59: 591–622. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6570.2006.00048.x

- Mobley, W. H. (1977). Intermediate linkages in relationship between job satisfaction and employee turnover. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 62 (2), 237-240. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.62.2.237
- Mobley, W. H. (1982). Some unanswered questions in turnover and withdrawal research. Academy of Management Review, 7(1), 111-116 doi:10.5465/AMR.1982.4285493
- Mobley, W. H., Griffeth, R. W., Hand, H. H., & Meglino, B. M. (1979). Review and conceptual analysis of the employee turnover process. *Psychological Bulletin*, 86(3), 493-522. doi:10.137/0033-2909.86.3.493
- Mondal, J., Shrestha S., & Bhaila, A. (2011). School teachers: Job stress and job satisfaction, Kaski, Nepal. *International Journal of Occupational Safety and Health*, 1, 27-33. doi:10.3126/ijosh.v1i1.5226
- Nader, A., AbuSheikhaa, Abdul, R., Younisb, M. (2006). Administrative factors affecting employees absenteeism in academic and public libraries in Jordan. *The International Information & Library Review*. doi.org/10.1016/j.iilr.2006.02.002
- Pearson, L. Carolyn., Moomaw, William. (2005). The Relationship between Teacher Autonomy and Stress, Work Satisfaction, Empowerment, and Professionalism *Educational Research Quarterly*, v29 n1 p38-54
- Porter, L. W., & Steers, R. M. (1973). Organizational, work, and personal factors in employee turnover and absenteeism. *Psychological Bulletin*, 80(2), 151-176. doi:10.1016/0001-8791(79)90072-1
- Price, J. L. (2000). Reflections on the determinants of voluntary turnover. *International Journal of Manpower*, 22 (7), 600-624. doi:10.1108/EUM000000006233

- Robert P. Steel and Joan R. Rentsch. (1995). Influence of Cumulation Strategies on the long-Range Prediction of Absenteeism. *Academy of Management*. doi: 10.2307/256846
- Rosenblatt, Z. and Shirom, A. (2005). Predicting teacher absenteeism by personnel background factors. *Journal of Educational Administration*. 43(2/3), 209-22
- Scott, Dow & L. McClellan, Elizabeth. (1990). Gender Differences in Absenteeism. *Public Personnel Management*. 19. 10.1177/009102609001900210
 Shapira-Lishchinsky, Orly. (2012). Teachers' withdrawal behaviors: Integrating theory and findings. *Journal of Educational Administration*. 50. 307-326. 10.1108/09578231211223329
- Steel, Robert P.,Rentsch, Joan R. (1997). The dispositional model of job attitudes revisited: Findings of a 10-year study. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. Vol 82(6).873-879
- Steel, R. P., & Rentsch, J. R.(1995). Influence of cumulation strategies on the long- range prediction of absenteeism. *Academy of Management Journal*. 1616–1634
- Shakrani, Sharif. (2008). Teacher Turnover: Costly Crisis, Solvable Problem. *Education Policy Center, Michigan State University*.
- Shore, L. M., & Martin, H. J. (1989). Job satisfaction and organizational commitment in relation to work performance and turnover intentions. *Human Relations*, 42, 625-638. doi:10.1177/001872678904200705

Shen, J. (1997). Teacher retention and attrition in public schools: evidence from SASS91.
The *Journal of Education Research*, *91*(2), 81-88.
doi:10.1080/00220679709597525

- Steel, R. P., & Ovalle, N. K., 2d. (1984). A review and meta-analysis of research on the relationship between behavioral intentions and employee turnover. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 69(4), 673-686. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.69.4.673
- Steers, Richard M. and Susan R. Rhodes. (1978). Major influences on employee attendance: A process model . *Journal of Applied Psychology*. 63, no. 4 391-407
- Steffick, D.E., Fortney, J.C., Smith, J.L. et al. *Dis-Manage-Health-Outcomes* (2006) 14: 13. https://doi.org/10.2165/00115677-200614010-00003
- Stewart WF, Ricci JA, Chee E, Hahn SR, Morganstein D. Cost of Lost Productive Work Time Among US Workers With Depression. JAMA. 2003;289(23):3135–3144. doi:10.1001/jama.289.23.3135
- Toppo, Mary Rajnee and Manjhi, Ganesh (2013): Burnout among para-teachers in India. *MPRA Paper Number:4350.* New Delhi, India.
- Trendall, Chris. (1989). Stress in teaching and teacher effectiveness: A study of teachers across mainstream and special education. *Educational Research*. 31. 52-58. 10.1080/0013188890310106
- Trull, Cheryl . (2005)The Effects of Substitute Teacher Training on the Teaching Efficacy of Prospective Substitute Teachers in the State of West Virginia.

- Urs M.Nater, Elizabeth Maloney, Christine Heim, William C.Reeves. (2011). Cumulative life stress in chronic fatigue syndrome. Science Direct. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2011.07.015
- Vandernheuvel, A. (1993). When roles overlap: Workers with family responsibilities. Melbourne: Australian Institute of Family Studies.

Van Dick, R. and Wagner, U. (2001), Stress and strain in teaching: A structural equation approach. British Journal of Educational Psychology, 71: 243–259. doi:10.1348/000709901158505

- Van Dierendonck, D., Haynes, C., Borrill, C., & Stride, C. (2004). Leadership behavior and subordinate well- being. Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, 9(2), 165-174. doi:10.1037/1076-8998.9.2.165
- Vistnes Primoff Jessica. 1997. Gender Differences in Days Lost from Work Due to Illness. *EconPapers*. vol. 50, issue 2, 304-323
- Wilma L.Zijlema, Ronald P.Stolk, BerndLöwe, Winfried Rief, BioSHaRE, Peter
 D.White, Judith G.M.Rosmalen. (2013). How to assess common somatic
 symptoms in large-scale studies: A systematic review of questionnaires. *Journal* of Psychosomatic Research. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2013.03.093
- Wunder, R. S., Dougherty, T. W., & Welsh, M. A. (1982). A causal model of role stress and employee turnover. Academy of Management Proceedings, 1, 297-301. doi:10.5465/AMBPP.1982.4976707
- Yang, X &., Ge, Cuixia & Hu, B., & Chi., T &., Wang, Lie. (2009). Relationship between quality of life and occupational stress among teachers. *Public health*. 123. 750-5. 10.1016/j.puhe.2009.09.018

Youngblood, Stuart A. (1984). Work, nonwork, and withdrawal. Journal of Applied

Psychology 69. no. 1 106-117